## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

BRUCE W. GLOVER,	)	
	)	
Petitioner,	)	
	)	
vs.	)	FSC CASE NO. SC02-1064
	)	
STATE OF FLORIDA,	)	FIFTH DCA CASE NO. 5D01-2462
	)	
Respondent.	)	
	)	

# ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

## PETITIONER'S MERIT BRIEF

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

MARVIN F. CLEGG ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 0274038 112 Orange Avenue, Suite A Daytona Beach, Florida 32114 (386) 252-3367

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

## **

### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The initials "AC" shall refer to the child complainant herein, with "MC" referring to his mother and "DC" referring to the child's second cousin. The letter "T" refers to transcript pages, with "R" referring to the non-transcript pages in the Record on Appeal.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Bruce Wayne Glover was charged with the sexual battery of AC, age 9, on March 8, 1999, attempted sexual battery with the same child on the same date, and with providing obscene material to the boy between January 1, 1999, and March 8, 1999. (Vol. I, R 166) These charges were later amended to allege reciprocal oral sex between March 8 and March 11, 1999 in two counts in violation of § 794.011(2), Fla. Stat. and attempted oral sex on the same dates in a third count (later dismissed). (Vol. II, R 219)

A Notice of Intent to Present Child Victim Hearsay was filed on April 28, 1999, seeking to utilize a videotaped interview of the child by police made March 12, 1999. (Vol. I, R 175; 181) The court ruled that the child's statements to his mother and the police were admissible. (Vol. I, R 190-191)

A motion to suppress statements made by Mr. Glover to police detectives on March 13, 1999, was also granted. (Vol. I, R 182-184; Vol. II, R 201)

The jury was sworn on May 21, 2001, and on May 24, 2001, found Mr. Glover not guilty of Count Two (receiving oral sex from the child), but guilty of Count One (providing oral sex to the child), a capital felony in violation of § 794.011(2), Fla. Stat. (Vol. IV, T 268; Vol. II, R 261-262; Vol. VI, T 767-768)

Defense counsel below moved for a new trial on May 29, 2001, and the

motion for judgment of acquittal was also renewed at this point. These were denied. (Vol. II, R 267-269)

On August 1, 2001, Mr. Glover was sentenced to life imprisonment on Count One. (Vol. II, R 276-278) The Office of the Public Defender was appointed for appellate purposes and a Notice of Appeal was timely filed on August 9, 2001. (Vol. II, R 284) In the Fifth District Court of Appeals, the conviction was affirmed. <u>Glover v. State</u>, 815 So.2d 698 (Fla. 5th DCA 2002)

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Bruce Wayne Glover is serving a life sentence for performing oral sex on nine year old AC, his conviction based on the uncorroborated and selfcontradictory testimony of the boy. During the trial, the jury heard the boy's videotaped statement to police twice, his previous statement to his mother and to police, and heard the child's own trial testimony twice. The jury also heard the prosecutor and detective vouch for, or bolster the boy's credibility numerous times, despite objections.

Mr. Glover was arrested on March 13, 1999, for sexual battery on a child

under the age of 12 in Brevard County, Florida. (Vol. I, R 155) Specifically, he was charged with performing oral sex on the boy, AC, on March 8, 1999, attempting to receive the same from the child on that date, and it was charged that he showed obscene material to the same child between January 1, and March 8, 1999. (Vol. I, R 166)

On August 31, 1999, a hearing on the state's Notice of Intent to Present Child Victim Hearsay was held, and AC's mother (MC) testified then that Mr. Glover was their neighbor and that on March 11 or so, of the same year, the boy told her about Mr. Glover's request for oral sex. This information came as the boy dressed before his mother and at one point her testimony was that he appeared nervous. (Vol. I, T 6 - 9) She stated the boy was in special slow learner classes at school. (Vol. I, T 11-12)

At another point, the mother said her boy had *not* been acting differently during the days leading up to this revelation, but just volunteered that the 'same thing' had happened again. In reality, the trial judge inquired and learned that an earlier incident involved a teenager who apparently sodomized AC when he was four years old. (Vol. I, T 13-16) After that incident, the boy did act out when he came home. (Vol. I, T 16)

As played during the hearing, the detective's taped interview revealed that

AC did not know his home address, or how long he had lived there. (Vol. I, T 31-34) The tape revealed that the detective next asked the boy to identify body parts on a drawing, where he referred to the penis as a 'dick.' (Vol. I, T 41) AC said the man had touched his penis after pulling AC's pants down and AC immediately told him not to do that. The man placed his mouth on AC's penis and this happened after school one day when he played a computer or video game after walking over to the man's residence. (Vol. I, T 51-52) Alternatively, the child said this happened on a Wednesday, or a Friday or after he was off school for two days. (Vol. I, T 51-52)

The detective led the child: "So, you went ever (*sic*) to his house to play a game and while you were playing the game he pulled your pants down, and did he pull your underwear down also?" The responses were inaudible. As to the date, the boy said "Friday. Saturday (inaudible) Monday it happened." The detective followed that statement up with "This past Monday? How do you remember it happened on last Monday?" (Vol. I, T53-54)

The boy said this happened following him being bad at school that day. He decided this was on Monday, a "couple of days ago." He also announced the date of the interview was "Tuesday. I mean Friday." (Vol. I, T 54-56) Next, the child stated, regarding when he visited Mr. Glover's: "I only go on a Friday and a

Tuesday." Then he added "No, that Monday I (inaudible)." (Vol. I, T 57)

AC responded 'um-hum' when asked if he had been going to Mr. Glover's "a lot," but when asked moments later how many times he had been there since they'd met, he stated once. Then he corrected himself with "five." (Vol. I, T 57-58) Likewise, the child first shook his head when asked if this was the first time this activity had happened, but later he stated this was the only time "he did anything." (Vol. I, T 56; 59) The child also said Mr. Glover's house number was 3045 and apparently the interviewer requested the child to double check that fact. (Vol. I, T 59) The arrest report lists the number as 3038. (Vol. I, R 155)

It was unclear, without leading questions, in what sequence the movieviewing, video games, and sex act took place at the accused's place. At that point in the interview, the detective placed the boy under oath. (Vol. I, T 70) In response to some leading, AC said he waited from Monday until Thursday to report this to his mother.

> DETECTIVE: ...Is there any reason why you waited until Thursday? Were you afraid? AC: Um-hum.

(Vol. I, T 72)

AC said he told his mother that the man *wanted* to put his mouth on his penis, not that he actually did. The man also wanted AC to put AC's mouth on his

penis on some undetermined evening. (Vol. I, T 85-86) After this tape played, and upon cross examination by defense counsel, the detective said MC told him she was alerted to the offense after noticing her son acting strange and moping around her house. She stated she confronted the boy several times and he finally told her Mr. Glover had requested oral sex. (Vol. I, T 88-90)

At the conclusion of the hearing testimony, the state argued that AC was not a child who could fabricate something of this nature, and that his mother "does not have the capacity to put thoughts into his mind." (Vol. I, T 94) The defense below argued that the mother's testimony was contradictory with what the detective quoted her as saying, and that the boy was not emotionally affected by what he described, but had to be reminded after leading or suggestive questions. (Vol. I, T 95-96) The trial court initially reserved ruling on this reliability issue, (Vol. I, T 96) but later ruled that the child's statements to his mother and the police were reliable. (Vol. I, R 190-191)

Defense counsel below also filed a motion to suppress statements made by Mr. Glover to police detectives at the police department. (Vol. I, R 182-184) In the suppression hearing, the defense offered testimony that upon the police arriving at Mr. Glover's residence, he instructed his wife to call his attorney and told police he was not willing to answer questions. When two detectives discussed their search results in Mr. Glover's presence later at the station, this provoked Mr. Glover to ask them what his wife had said to them. (Vol. I, T 99-105) Det. Butler said that after he was told Mr. Glover would not agree to an interview initially, he repeated what the wife had said in front of Mr. Glover, where he could hear. (Vol. I, T 110-115) He acknowledged he knew it was important that a suspect had to reinitiate conversation once Miranda rights had been invoked and the detective told Mr. Glover that he would now have to 'beg' them to talk to him because of his prior invocation of rights. When Mr. Glover agreed, he was walked into the interview room, and told he would be videotaped. (Vol. I, T 107-108; 113-119)

The trial court ruled that Mr. Glover's statements to police were the result of unlawful interrogation and granted the motion to suppress, writing that "(a)ny statements or admissions made by the Defendant on March 13, 1999 were the result of that unlawful interrogation and are a violation of <u>Miranda v. Arizona.</u>" (Vol. II, R 201)

The jury was sworn on May 21, 2001, without objection. (Vol. IV, T 268) Eleven-year-old AC testified with some difficulty: when asked where he lived, by the prosecution, his reply was Garden Street, Brevard County. "What city is that, though? What city do you live in?" the prosecution repeated. "Brevard County," was the reply, prompting the prosecutor to say "Okay. You live in Brevard County, but do you remember what city you live in?" AC replied "No." Upon suggestive questioning, the boy agreed it was Titusville. (Vol. IV, T 315)

AC pointed out Mr. Glover in the courtroom and stated they formerly lived across from one another. (Vol. IV, T 316-317) When asked if Mr. Glover asked him to do something 'bad', over objection, AC stated Mr. Glover asked him to put his mouth on the adult's penis. (Vol. IV, T 319) AC now stated that he did place his mouth on the man's penis around the same time the boy was playing *Duke Nukem* on the Play Station. AC said it happened when the man told him to pull his pants down and asked him to perform oral sex. The boy stated the penis was inside his mouth. After that, the boy told him "no more." (Vol. IV, T 320; 322)

After going to rent another game, the boy said Mr. Glover asked him if he wanted oral sex performed on him and the boy said 'yes,' whereupon the man did so.

State: Was his mouth onto your penis--I mean, was your penis in his mouth? A. Um– State: Was it just touching his mouth? A: Um-hum. State: So it was in contact with him? A: Um-hum.

(Vol. IV, T 321-322) The defense objection to the leading nature was overruled.

After this, Mr. Glover and the boy drew words on a pair of jeans bought for AC, with the man writing "suck it" and the word "f--k." The boy said he reported it to his mother because he wanted it to stop, and then he told the police about it the following day. (Vol. IV, T 323-327)

AC said he was a pretty big fan of the WWF (World Wrestling Federation) and described that the WWF's slogan, at least in 1999, was "suck it" which, the boy explained, meant "putting your mouth on your penis." (Vol. IV, T 331) This clever slogan would be chanted at wrestling matches and on television and there was even a symbolic gesture connoting the phrase, which the boy demonstrated to the jury. (Vol. IV, T 331-332) He had made this gesture to his friends while playing and he and Mr. Glover were both into wrestling and "(w)e'd play a lot, and I'd wrestle." (Vol. IV, T 334)

AC said he was playing a video game, lying on the floor stomach down when he stated Mr. Glover performed oral sex on him. (Vol. IV, T 336) Later, in response to leading questions from the prosecution, the boy testified he was sitting, while playing the game and while Mr. Glover performed fellatio, not lying on his stomach. (Vol. IV, T 367)

STATE: No, you told (defense counsel) that you were laying on your stomach a minute ago.

A: No. I said I was sitting up like that.
Q: Okay. But when he laid down on the floor to show you, did you kind of indicate that that was what you were doing, or were you confused?
A: I was confused.

(Vol. IV, T 368) AC said he had the game controller with its buttons or squares or circles on it, in his lap and hand during the time that Mr. Glover was stated to be performing fellatio on him. (Vol. IV, T 373)

AC denied that he had been in trouble in school the same week that he reported something to his mother. When he was reminded of his videotaped statement that he was "being bad at school that Monday" he then recalled that he had been bad and that his mother learned of it the same day. (Vol. IV, T 338; 361-363)

He acknowledged that he only told his mother Mr. Glover *asked* him to do something bad, not that anything had actually happened. (Vol. IV, T 338-339) He testified that when he talked to the police, he changed his story from "He asked me to suck his dick" to "He did suck my dick." (Vol. IV, T 340) AC also recalled telling the police that he had *not* put his mouth on Mr. Glover's penis. (Vol. IV, T 341) A year later, however, he told authorities that he *had* placed his mouth on Mr. Glover's organ. (Vol. IV, T 343) DEFENSE: Okay. And the people you tell that to are--is it Mr. Bowen that you told it to or was it Mr. Koenig, another state attorney? Remember David? Remember you had David as your state attorney before Mr. Bowen?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. Is he the first person you told this to?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. That was, like, right before we were ready to go to trial, wasn't it? Weren't we set to go to trial way back then?

A. Yeah.

Q. Back in March, right?

A. Yeah.

Q. Then you said, "Well, there's something else I want to tell you," and you came up with this additional information. Is that right? A. Right.

(Vol. IV, T 343)

At the time of this accusation, the boy said he knew Mr. Glover had a cast on his arm from a car accident. The boy unbuttoned his own pants, he said during trial, but he also recalled saying during his deposition that Mr. Glover took them off him. (Vol. IV, T 344-346)

AC also confirmed that he said during his deposition that he had to turn

around to look at Mr. Glover to tell him not to perform the oral sex. Despite AC

claiming that Mr. Glover bit him while performing oral sex, AC said he was not

taken to a doctor or nurse for examination or to be photographed by either police

or family. (Vol. IV, T 347-348)

During trial, the boy said that the actions of him performing fellatio on Mr. Glover and Mr. Glover reciprocating took place on different days. He could not recall which happened first. (Vol. IV, T 348) The boy did recall stating during his earlier deposition that the events *did* happen on the same day. (Vol. IV, T 350)

Regarding the jeans and the written obscenities, during trial AC testified the he did not tell Mr. Glover what to write on the jeans. However, his earlier deposition produced a different answer, although at trial AC said he couldn't remember that earlier testimony.

> DEFENSE: Do you remember being asked these questions and giving the following responses: Question: "And then what happened?" And you said, "Then he drawed on them and I--I told him what I wanted him to draw, like that ."

> Question, "Is that--did you tell him to draw cuss words on there? Is that what you said before, he drew what you told him to?" "Um-hum."

> > "Did you tell him to draw cuss words?" "Yeah."

(Vol. IV, T 350-351) During trial, defense also brought out contradictions in previous depositions by the boy as to why he left Mr. Glover's house after the sex acts. (Vol. IV, T 352-355) When the boy testified that Mr. Glover had *not* given

him a comic book as reward for the act, his August 1999 deposition revealed the opposite response. (Vol. IV, T 355)

When the defense sought to elicit testimony that the boy had not delayed in reporting an earlier incident of sexual abuse involving a fellow juvenile, in contrast to the four day delay here, the trial judge ruled that this was "not probative to any motive to fabricate. It's not coming in." (Vol. IV, T 357-359) When counsel sought to proffer the questions and answers for the record, the court told him to submit it in writing but without the child's answers as "it's not relevant." (Vol. IV, T 359-360) The proffer became Court Exhibit 10. (Vol. V, T 441)

In response to a jury question, the boy stated he did not know why he waited four days to tell his mother about the incident. (Vol. IV, T 366) DC testified that she was second cousin to AC and his present guardian the woman stated he had lived with her since August of 1999. (Vol. IV, T 378) AC had Attention Deficit Disorder, she testified over objection, and was taking medication. He had learning problems, comprehending at a kindergarten level. (Vol. IV, T 379-380)

MC, mother of AC, testified that the trial defendant was Mr. Glover, her former neighbor, and over objection to the child's hearsay being admitted, she stated the boy first reported this to her while she was in front of the bathroom and the boy was undressed. (Vol. IV, T 385-386) She stated AC came out and told her he was asked "Would you suck my dick?" whereupon he ran out the door after telling the man 'no.' She stated AC was not in trouble with her at the time of this revelation. (Vol. IV, T 387) In fact, she added that she wasn't aware of AC being in trouble that Thursday or that whole week, in school. (Vol. IV, T 388)

MC said that the boy told her the incident had taken place on the preceding *Tuesday*. (Vol. IV, T 389) On cross examination, MC said she remembered it was Tuesday, not Monday, because the boy asked her if she remembered the day she came home early. (Vol. IV, T 390) However, her deposition revealed her stating it was on a Monday as she sat in front of the computer. (Vol. IV, T 391-392) She stated it was not unusual for her to walk over to Mr. Glover's while her son was over there, as she did that Monday--this was her normal practice and she said her son had his clothes on, was playing a game, and looked normal. MC also testified that her son watched wrestling on television. (Vol. IV, T 393-396; 399)

At trial, the lead detective testified over renewed hearsay objection and the trial court again relied upon its September 2, 1999, order to allow the hearsay in. (Vol. V, T 410) When the state sought to have the detective publish the edited video interview of the child to the jury, the defense renewed their objection. (Vol. V, T 411)

When the state asked the detective how old Mr. Glover was, defense counsel

objected that this was not within the officer's personal knowledge. The detective was permitted to recite the age given him by Mr. Glover during the booking process over objections based upon hearsay and Miranda grounds. (Vol. V, T 423-431) The trial judge ruled that the defendant's statement of age came in as an admission against interest. (Vol. V, T 430)

The videotaped interview of the child was played for the jury and during its play, it was revealed that the boy said "he's got a lot of nasty movies in the house." Defense counsel objected to this violation of its motion in limine with its resulting order, and moved for mistrial, which was denied with a curative instruction promised for later. (Vol. V, T 496) At the end of the video, the interviewer told the child "And I'm very happy that you were honest with me." (Vol. V, T 510)

The trial court granted the Motion for Judgment of Acquittal concerning Count Three. (Vol. II, R 260) On jury instructions, the defense requested only the lesser of simple battery. (Vol. V, T 538) The judge volunteered the lesser of sexual battery by a person *under* age 18 and the defense, while maintaining its position that the age was inadmissible and renewing its earlier objection, requested that instruction. (Vol. V, T 541-542) No other instruction objections were made. (Vol. V, T 544)

During closing arguments, the state argued that no reason had been shown

why AC would make up these stories and defense counsel objected, which was overruled. (Vol. V, T 591) Then, the state argued that "after seeing (AC) testify, I doubt seriously that he's capable of making something up like this." Defense again objected, and moved for a mistrial, which was denied, while the objection was sustained. (Vol. V, T 594)

The jury retired at 3 p.m. to deliberate. (Vol. VI, T 628) The jury later requested to see the video of AC's statement to police again and asked what the Count One allegation was again. (Vol. VI T 630) The entire boy's statement was replayed for the jury a second time. (Vol. VI T 630-705) The jury had another question about Count One: "is it that (*sic*) the count that involves (AC) doing Bruce?" The judge read the to-wit of that count and then, Count Two. One juror expressed further confusion: "Let me put it in my words, okay. Count One is where (AC) put his in Bruce's mouth, am I correct or am I lost here ?" (Vol. VI T 706-707) The judge responded: "Count One involves the sexual organ of (AC). Count Two involves the sexual organ of Bruce Wayne Glover." The judge then read the to-wits of the first two counts again, reminded the jurors of the presumption of innocence and ascertained there were no other instructions requested by the attorneys or objections. (Vol. VI T 708)

At 5:47 p.m., the jury recessed for deliberations again, with another question

at 7 p.m. to have AC's trial testimony read back from May 22, 2001, which was done after a dinner break. (Vol. VI T 709-764) After the readback, the jury requested adjournment for the evening at 10:20 p.m. (Vol. VI T 764) The next morning, the jury asked about where the boy's pants were and why they were not introduced at trial. Jurors also wanted to know if they could see the arrest report and wanted to know where Mr. Glover's son was and if he left, why he left. The court sent a note back that these matters were not in evidence. (Vol. VI T 766-767)

At 10:25 a.m. on May 24, 2001, the jury found Mr. Glover not guilty of Count Two, but guilty of Count One. (Vol. II, R 261-262; Vol. VI, T 767-768)

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