IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

BRUCE W. GLOVER,

Petitioner,

v.

Case No. SC02-1064

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

RESPONDENT'S MERIT BRIEF

RICHARD E. DORAN ATTORNEY GENERAL

CARMEN F. CORRENTE Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 304565 444 Seabreeze Blvd., Suite 500 Daytona Beach, Florida 32118-

(386)238-4990 Fax (386)238-4997

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

3951

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

<u>POINT 1</u>: The jury was properly instructed that it must find that Petitioner was over the age of 18. Even the verdict forms permitted the jury to find that Petitioner was less than 18 years of age; therefore Petitioner's age was pled in the information, proven by the evidence, and determined by the jury.

<u>POINT 2</u>: None of the comments amount to prosecutorial misconduct or improper argument. The State did not personally vouch for the veracity of a witness; there was no "Golden Rule" argument; and most of the alleged comments were not preserved for review.

POINT 3: The trial court conducted an extensive hearing on the child hearsay statements and made specific and detailed findings based upon the evidence adduced during said hearing. Inconsistency among various statements is not relevant to the issue of reliability or to the trustworthiness of each separate statement. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting the two hearsay statements.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE 1

THE AGE OF PETITIONER WAS NOT AT ISSUE DURING THE TRIAL. THERE IS EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT A FINDING THAT PETITIONER IS OLDER THAN 18 YEARS OF AGE.

The State urges this Court to adopt the reasoning found in Jesus v. State, 565 So.2d 1361, 1363 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990) and Toussaint v. State, 755 So.2d 170, 172 (Fla. 4th DCA), review denied, 776 So.2d 277 (Fla. 2000). Sexual battery is defined in section 794.011(1)(h), Florida Statutes (2002) as oral, anal, or vaginal penetration by, or union with, the sexual organ of another or the anal or vaginal penetration of another by an object. According to that section, the offender's age is not an element of the crime of sexual battery. The offender's age does affect the punishment but it is clearly not an essential element of the crime.

The Fifth District has previously commented in *dicta* that it is error to fail to instruct the jury regarding the age of the defendant in capital sexual battery cases. See <u>D'Ambrosio v. State</u>, 736 So.2d 44 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999). However, in that case the Fifth District never ruled that age must be proven beyond a reasonable doubt. The court merely held that age must be "included within the instructions, along with proof." <u>See D'Ambrosio</u>, <u>supra</u>, 736 So.2d at 45. This is exactly what

transpired below. Nevertheless, <u>Toussaint</u>, <u>supra</u>, has more recently reaffirmed that "the offender's age is not an element of the crime of sexual battery." This Court declined to review <u>Toussaint</u> and there is no basis at this juncture to now conclude that age is an essential element of sexual battery.

In <u>Baker v. State</u>, 604 So. 2d 1239 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992), a case cited by the decision below as conflicting with <u>Jesus</u>, <u>supra</u>, the verdict form contained no provision for a finding as to the defendant's age. Here, of course, the jury specifically found on the verdict form that Petitioner was over the age of 18. Thus, in reality, this case does not conflict with the *dicta* in <u>D'Ambrosio</u> or the holding in <u>Baker</u>, <u>supra</u>. This Court should therefore issue a ruling which corrects the finding that error occurred below.

However, even if this Court agrees that error occurred below it may affirm the ruling that said error is harmless. As this Court held in Goodwin v. State, 751 So.2d 537 (Fla. 1999), proper harmless error analysis is anything but a mere weighing of evidence. In the words of the court: "harmless error analysis requires appellate courts to first consider the nature of the error complained of and then the effect this error had on the triers of fact." 751 So.2d at 540; see also Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 87 S.Ct. 824, 17 L.Ed.2d 705 (1967). Goodwin added:

"The harmless error test ... places the burden on the state, as the beneficiary of the error, to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict or, alternatively stated, that there is no reasonable possibility that the error contributed to the conviction."

Goodwin, 751 So.2d at 541; see also Chapman, 386 U.S. at 24, 87 S.Ct. 824; State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129, 1135 (Fla. 1986). In the end the judiciary must be able to say beyond a reasonable doubt that the error did not affect the verdict. Goodwin, 751 So.2d at 541 ("If the appellate court cannot say beyond a reasonable doubt that the error did not affect the verdict, then the error is by definition harmful."). Daughtry v. State, 804 So.2d 426, 428 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001).

In this case the error could not have possibly affected the verdict. Petitioner never contested that he was over the age of 18 and, indeed, a jury panel can make an accurate determination of age in circumstances where a defendant is twice the age of 18. Petitioner related, during the booking process, that he was born in 1964. Under Florida Law, business records containing information transmitted by a person with knowledge, are admissible "unless the sources of information or other circumstances show lack of trustworthiness." Section 90.803(6), Florida Statutes (2000)(emphasis supplied). Petitioner has not questioned the source of the information or the trustworthiness

of the data.

In order to prove Petitioner's age, the State requested that the criminal report form filled out pursuant to section 923.01, Florida Statutes (1999) be admitted into evidence as a business record pursuant to §90.803(6), supra. (R5 423-425) Rather than redact all but the age and name of Petitioner on the form, it was eventually agreed that the officer could relay to the jury the date of birth given to him by Petitioner. (R5 432, 434) Therefore, evidence of age was properly proven.

In addition, the jury was properly instructed that it must find that Petitioner was over the age of 18. (R6 612-613) While the court did abbreviate the reference to Petitioner's age in count two, Petitioner was acquitted of said count. This, of course, precludes reversal and retrial as to count two. Even the verdict forms permitted the jury to find that Petitioner was less than 18 years of age; (R2 262-263) therefore Petitioner's age was pled in the information, (R2 219) proven by the evidence, and determined by a jury that was instructed on age as an element of the offense.

There is no doubt - reasonable or otherwise - that Petitioner was twice the age of 18. He therefore received a fair trial and the conviction should not be set aside based upon the wording of the age instruction. Age, unlike intent, is not subjective or ephemeral. In fact, if the offender's age did not

fit within the parameters of the crime, age would most assuredly be pled as an affirmative defense or raised in a motion to dismiss. In the future the legislature could certainly amend the statute to provide that age is an essential element of the crime, but the wording of the current jury instruction tracks the language of the statute and requires the jury to make a specific factual finding regarding the age of the defendant. In this case the factual finding is uncontroverted; the conviction should be upheld.

ISSUE 2

THERE WAS NO INSTANCE OF PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT OR VOUCHING. MOTION FOR MISTRIAL PROPERLY DENIED.

Petitioner begins his challenge of the prosecutor's closing argument by quoting, out of context, the State's comment that the sexual incidents "really happened." But this comment was made in direct response to a defense allegation. The entire quote illustrates this fact:

...if this was rehearsed and scripted as [the defense] would have you believe, then why wasn't [the child victim] right on the line all the way down? Why wasn't every single point exact, all the way down the line?

I'll tell you why, because this really happened. It happened two years ago. He was nine years old. And if you look at the video and then compare it with how he testified on the stand, he did a lot better today...

Inconsistencies from telling to telling are one of the things you looked at. Inconsistencies on a relatively minor point.

(R5 588-289) Moreover, there was no objection to this proper inference based upon the evidence. And the prosecutor never expressed his "personal" belief to the jury. See Singletary v. State, 483 So.2d 8 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985). The claim that a crime "really happened" is nothing more than argument that a crime was committed. Similarly, at a later point, the prosecutor's

comments that "these things happened" and "that's what he testified to" (R5 591) merely argue that the events occurred.

Next, Petitioner claims that the State violated the "Golden Rule." However, there was no objection or motion for mistrial. <u>See Irving v. State</u>, 627 So.2d 92, 94 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993)(claim that the prosecutor made comments which violated the "golden rule" of prosecutorial argument was not preserved for appellate review by an objection or motion for mistrial). A "Golden Rule" argument is defined as that which forces "the jury to place themselves in the shoes of the victim." McDonald v. State, 43 So.2d 501, 504 (Fla. 1999). Therefore, the prosecutor's statement that "I can't imagine how it was for him, to have to answer those questions [on the witness stand, not during the crime]" falls short of a "Golden Rule" violation. Discussing the fact that it is embarrassing to answer personal and private questions in front of six or twelve strangers is not a violation of the "Golden Rule." Moreover, a single isolated improper Golden Rule argument may be deemed harmless. <u>See Davis v.</u> State, 604 So.2d 794 (Fla. 1992).

The child victim's mental capacity and capability was legitimately questioned during the trial. As a result, the State did say, "I doubt seriously that [the victim] is capable of making something up like this." (R5 594) There was an

immediate objection which was sustained. The court then reminded the jury that it was solely the province of the jury to determine credibility. Thus, the jury was at least twice charged with the tenet that it is the jury alone which decides the issue of credibility.

Finally, as to the comments made by the investigator on the video tape, the record is devoid of any objection at the time the tape was played. In fact, the record reflects that the tape was redacted and edited to conform to a previous order. (R5 410-411) The defense objection which was renewed at that time was based upon the child hearsay exception, not the comments of the investigator. Even if it was inappropriate to permit the jury hear the part of the tape where the investigator thanks the child for "being honest," it is clear that the jury did not believe the child was entirely honest, for it acquitted Petitioner on one sexual battery charge. These videotaped comments were gratuitous and, in light of the result, completely harmless.

Lastly, Petitioner attacks the prosecutor's customary and usual comment whenever the State is "sandwiched" between two defense closing arguments, such as: "I won't be able to talk with you again, so ask yourself how the State would respond to the defense argument." Nevertheless, up until now no court has ever found such an argument to be improper.

A ruling on a motion for mistrial is within the sound discretion of the trial court. Cole v. State, 701 So.2d 845, 853 (Fla. 1997). A motion should only be granted where it is necessary to insure a fair trial. Petitioner herein has already received a fair trial in this case. Statements were suppressed, interviews were edited, a judgment of acquittal was granted, and the jury acquitted on another count.

ISSUE 3

CHILD'S VIDEOTAPED STATEMENTS PROPERLY ADMITTED UNDER THE CHILD HEARSAY EXCEPTION.

Petitioner overlooks the fact that, pursuant to the child hearsay notice, a lengthy hearing was held during which the trial court reviewed the two statements that the State sought to admit. The transcript of the hearing, including argument of counsel, spans more than 90 pages.

The trial court's detailed order made specific findings regarding the time, content, and the circumstances of the statements. (R1 190-191) The video tape was played during the hearing, and the two witnesses testified. The thoroughness of the hearing and of the findings renders any question regarding the sufficiency of the child hearsay notice moot.

Furthermore, these hearsay statements were made only three or four days after the events; and the reference to the "suck my dick" statement is corroborated by the evidence found on the blue jeans. Other indicia of reliability are the purely spontaneous and shocking comment by the child regarding oral sex (R5 459) and the fact that the child is a "slow learner" attending special education classes and is therefore likely unsophisticated in the fabrication of such events. The child's level of sophistication would be plainly visible to the trial court judge but difficult to perceive in the antiseptic black

and white pages of the record.

Petitioner argues that the many minor inconsistencies in the child victim's statements renders the videotaped statement unreliable. However, if there were no divergence between the various statements, it would be impossible to impeach or question the child's testimony. It appears that the videotaped statement was much more detailed than the trial testimony; and the videotape was made within days of the crimes. Each of the statements, standing alone, support a conviction for at least one count of sexual battery. The fact that there are inconsistencies between them is a matter for the jury to resolve; the divergences are not sufficient to justify suppression of the statements. Obviously, the inconsistencies were great enough to result in an acquittal on one count.

This Court has specifically held that inconsistencies between statements do not preclude the admission of statements under the child hearsay exception. In <u>Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services v. M.B.</u>, 701 So.2d 1155, 1157 (Fla. 1997) the Court held "that section 90.803(23), Florida Statutes (1995), permits the admission into evidence of certain out-of-court statements of a child crime victim without the necessity that those statements be consistent with the child's trial testimony." The Court further noted that the legislature knows how to impose a "consistency" requirement if desired,

because the legislature specifically addressed the issue of consistency between out-of-court statements and in-court testimony in the definition of non-hearsay found in section 90.801, Florida Statutes (1995).

Thus, the issue is plainly not consistency; and Petitioner's focus thereon is misplaced. In fact, the law requires that each statement be reviewed separately, and not in conjunction with other statements. It is clear that the trial court held an extensive hearing on this issue. The trial court then made a specific finding that the statements sought to be introduced were reliable, and this finding is not an abuse of discretion.

See Sexton v. State, 697 So.2d 833 (Fla. 1977). The court's finding is clothed with a presumption of correctness. Caso v. State, 524 So.2d 422 (Fla. 1988).

CONCLUSION

Petitioner's conviction and sentence should be affirmed.